9 m

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

FEB 26 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASES No. 81,165

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

## PATRICIA FRUETEL,

Respondent.

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

### JOAN FOWLER

Senior Assistant Attorney General, Criminal Law West Palm Beach Bureau Florida Bay No. 339067

Co-Counsel for Petitioner

### DON M. ROGERS

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 656445 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (407) 837-5062

Co-Counsel for Petitioner

#

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS2
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS3
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT11
ARGUMENT  THE OBJECTIVE ENTRAPMENT TEST SET FORTH IN CRUZ V. STATE HAS BEEN ABOLISHED BY THE ENACTMENT OF SECTION 777.201 FLORIDA STATUTES (1989). THEREFORE, THE OPINION BELOW MUST BE QUASHED AS IT IS BASED ON AN APPLICATION OF THE TWO PART ANALYSIS OF CRUZ
CONCLUSION2
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE24

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>CASE</u> <u>PAGE</u>
Brown v. State, 484 So. 2d 1324 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986)23
Cruz v. State, 465 So. 2d 516 (Fla.) cert. denied, 473 U.S. 905, 105 S.Ct. 3527, 87 L.Ed.2d 652 (1985)
Fruetel v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly D2686 (Fla. 4th DCA December 2, 1992) .2-3,12
Gonzalez v. State, 517 So. 2d 1346, 1349 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990)
Gonzalez v. State, 525 So. 2d 1005 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988)23
<u>Herrera v. State</u> , 594 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 1992)12
<u>Krajewski v. State</u> , 587 So. 2d 1175 (4th DCA) quashed on other grounds, 589 So. 2d 254 (Fla. 1992)15
<u>Krajewski v. State</u> ,  597 So. 2d 814 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992)22
Lusby v. State, 507 So. 2d 611 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987)22-23
Lynch v. State, 293 So. 2d 44, 45 (Fla. 1974)20
McConnehead v. State, 515 So. 2d 1046, 1048 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987)20
Ricardo v. State, 592 So. 2d 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991)18
Simmons v. State, 590 So. 2d 442 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)
<u>State v. Burch</u> , 545 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989)23
State v. Hunter, 586 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 1991)

521 So. 2d 313 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988)23
State v. Munoz, 586 So. 2d 515 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) jurisdiction accepted, 598 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1992)
State v. Pham, 595 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992)
<u>State v. Purvis</u> , 560 So. 2d 1296, 1301 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990)23
Strickland v. State, 588 So. 2d 269 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991)
FLORIDA STATUTES:
Fla. Stat. §777.201 (1987)11, 15-16
OTHER AUTHORITIES:
Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190(c)(4)
Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) §3.04(c)(1) (1985)
House of Representatives' Committee on Criminal Justice Staff Analysis (June 27, 1987)
Laws of Florida 87-243 §4212
Model Penal Code §2.13 (1962)23
Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement on Crime Prevention, Bill No. CS/HB 1467 (May 22, 1987)

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner/appellee below, will be referred to herein as either "the State" or "Petitioner". Respondent, Patricia Fruetel, defendant/appellant below, will be referred to herein as "Respondent". A copy of the opinion of the case on review and order certifying conflict is attached hereto as Exhibit "A".

References to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant, Patricia Fruetel, and codefendant, Vaden Williams were charged with trafficking in cocaine and conspiracy to traffic in cocaine (R. 1038-1039). A jury trial was held in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit before the Honorable William Dimitrouleas. Appellant was convicted on both counts as charged (R. 1103). Appellant was sentenced to concurrent 15 years mandatory minimum sentences with a fine of \$250,000 (R. 1104).

The Fourth District reversed Appellant's conviction and ordered Appellant discharged. Fruetel v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly D2686 (Fla. 4th DCA December 2, 1992). The State filed a Motion for Rehearing/Motion to Certify conflict on December 10, 1992. Rehearing was denied but the district court certified conflict with State v. Munoz, 586 So. 2d 515 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), jurisdiction accepted, 598 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1992) and Simmons v. State, 590 So. 2d 442 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) in a January 7, 1993 order. (Exhibit A).

This appeal follows.

Williams v. State, 596 So. 2d 1202 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), review denied, Case No. 80,035 (Fla. September 28, 1992).

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The opinion below does contain a lengthy rendition of facts. Fruetel v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly D2686 (Fla. 4th DCA December 2, 1992). The State believes that the Fourth District ignored many facts that were important to the State's case. Therefore, the State rejects the rendition of the facts found in the opinion and would outline the facts as follows.

On April 3, 1990, Appellant, Patricia Fruetel, Vaden William (Fruetel boyfriend) and pilot Mitchell Britt flew in a private aircraft from Norfolk, Virginia to Ft. Lauderdale, Florida (R. 588-591). Upon landing in Ft. Lauderdale at 4:00 p.m. (R. 802) a car was rented and the three drove to Miami (R. 593, 803). One of the first thing Appellant did upon arriving in Miami was to contact Anibal Duarte (R. 803).

Anibal Duarte, also known as Cookie, had been arrested by the federal authorities and prosecuted for possession of cocaine and conspiracy to possess cocaine (R. 529). He pled guilty in federal court to the charges against him on March 30, 1990 (R. 529).

Thereafter, Duarte met with Special Agent Lou Cabanillas of the Drug Enforcement Administration and a United States Attorney in order to discuss whether he would be able to provide the government with substantial assistance in drug cases (R. 531). That is, if he were able to provide the authorities with the information leading to the arrest of a substantial violator, with the accompanying seizure of a significant amount of drugs, his help would be brought to the attention of his sentencing federal

judge (R. 531). Duarte was released on his own recognizance pending sentencing (R. 534-535).

Duarte was not informed of the Federal rules governing the behavior of informants (R. 531). Cabanillas said Duarte was characterized as a "source of information" rather than a "confidential informant," because he did not actively participate in an investigation in a continuing manner under the agent's direction (R. 528-531). Duarte was sentenced on July 10, 1991 in Federal District Court to 136 months in Federal prison (R. 534). Duarte's sole involvement in this case was to set up the meeting between Appellant and Agent Cabanillas (R. 536).

On April 4, 1990 at 3:00 p.m., Cabanillas received a telephone call from Duarte (R. 494). As a result, Cabanillas, acting as a source of cocaine met later that day with Duarte and Appellant, Patricia Fruetel, at Bennigan's Restaurant in Miami (R. 494-495). Cabanillas testified that he and Appellant went to the bar area for a private discussion about a drug transaction Cabanillas told Appellant he wanted to sell not less (R. 496). than five kilograms of cocaine, while Appellant responded that she only wanted two kilograms of cocaine because she liked to "ounce it out" back in Virginia Beach, where she was from (R. 496-497). Appellant only wanted two kilos as she didn't want to expand her business (R. 497). The price they agreed upon was \$32,000 for two kilos (R. 497). This conversation was not recorded (R. 497). On its conclusion, Appellant left with Duarte (R. 552). Cabanillas gave Appellant his beeper number on a match book (R. 498, 821).

Cabanillas thereafter called the Broward Sheriff's Office and made arrangements for a deal to be organized that day by the Broward County agency (R. 499, 501), since the transaction involved an amount less than five kilograms (R. 538). Cabanillas then called Duarte at 4:00 p.m. to try to get in touch with Appellant (R. 502). Duarte put her on the phone, and Cabanillas told her that they could meet again at 5:30 that evening (R. 503).

Appellant called again at 5:30, Cabanillas told her the meeting would have to be put off for an hour (R. 504-505). He proceeded to a Howard Johnson's Hotel in Hallandale, where he waited with several Broward Sheriff's deputies for Appellant to arrive (R. 505). Two kilograms of cocaine (R. 574-575) were also provided by the Sheriff for the transaction (R. 660-661).

From the hotel lobby, Cabanillas saw Ms. Fruetel arrive in a car driven by Mitchell Britt (R. 506). Appellant was sitting in the back seat of the vehicle (R. 464). According to Cabanillas another officer, Appellant and Williams and (codefendant) got out of the car and went to the trunk (R. 465, 507). Appellant put money into a brown shoulder bag (R. 508) while codefendant, Williams, watched (R. 511). Appellant proceeded into the hotel, while Williams waited outside in the car with Britt (R. 468). Cabanillas greeted Appellant in the hotel lobby (R. 512).

The motel room in which Agent Cabanillas took Appellant was wired and a tape recording of the ensuing conversation was introduced into evidence (R. 693). Ms. Fruetel told Cabanillas

that she had brought some people with her (R. 514). Cabanillas entered the hotel room at approximately 7:30 p.m. (R. 514).

Appellant produced the money (\$31,000)(R. 673) which Cabanillas counted (R. 502). The two kilos of cocaine were brought into the room, and Ms. Fruetel cut into the cocaine with a knife she took from her purse (R. 518-519, 656-657). She complained that the drugs in one of the packages was too yellow, so Cabanillas promised that he would give Ms. Fruetel a discount on her next purchase from him (R. 519-521, 658-659). Appellant said she didn't know if she could cut one of the kilos (R. 519). Ms. Fruetel agreed to the transaction and put the drugs in her bag, whereupon she was promptly arrested (R. 521, 674).

Williams and Mr. Britt were arrested while they waited in the parking lot (R. 523). Williams had \$4900 in his front pocket (R. 616-674). He was read his rights upon being brought back to the motel room (R. 524). In response to the question, if he knew why Ms. Fruetel was going to the motel, Williams answered that he knew some kind of drug deal was involved but did not know it was cocaine (R. 525).

Mitchell Britt (a private pilot) testified as a State witness that he knew Williams from working on his boat (R. 587). Williams asked Britt to fly Williams and Appellant, Ms. Fruetel, to Florida so Williams could pick up a government contract (R. 587). Britt knew nothing about any drug transaction (R. 592). The group flew to Ft. Lauderdale on April 3, 1990, and then rented a car to drive to Miami (R. 593). There Williams told Britt that they might be able to complete the deal that day, so

they would not rent a room unless it was necessary (R. 597). Later that evening, however, Britt was told to rent a motel room, which Williams paid for (R. 599).

Britt and Williams had some drinks, but Appellant was not there (R. 600). Nor was Appellant present the next morning (R. 602). It was about 3:00 the next day when Appellant and Williams told Mr. Britt that the business was almost wound up, but they needed one more signature before they could return home (R. 603). Britt put their luggage in the rental car and drove the other two to a mall, where he shopped while Ms. Fruetel tried to get hold of the partner on the phone, while Williams waited nearby (R. 604-646).

Britt and the others then drove to the Howard Johnson's in Hallandale (R. 607), where William suggested to Appellant that she "pick up the paperwork and let's go home" (R. 608) and Britt waited in the car (R. 608). When the police arrived and arrested them, both Britt and Williams protested (R. 609). Appellant asked Williams what to do, and he told her that he did not know, "let me think about it. Maybe I can call somebody." (R. 617). Appellant told Britt after the arrest that she was sorry (R. 612). Britt retained an attorney and then gave a statement to the prosecutor (R. 622). No charges were ever brought against him (R. 585).

Appellant, Patricia Fruetel, testified in her own behalf. A sophomore in marine biology at Old Dominion University, she admitted to being Williams' girlfriend, even though he was married (R. 795). While on vacation with him Florida about a

year and a half earlier, she met Anibal Duarte, whom she knew as Cookie, through friends (R. 793). She and Duarte's girlfriend, Shelby, became friends (R. 794). When Appellant returned to Virginia, Duarte called her numerous times, telling her that his girlfriend, Shelby, was in the hospital with an injured back. Duarte wanted to borrow money from Ms. Fruetel for Shelby's medical bills (R. 796). Ms. Fruetel gave him a total of \$475 in two separate cash payments (R. 796-798). Around the 20th of February, Duarte called again, requesting one additional loan to fix his car, which he told Mr. Fruetel he would then sell to repay her the loans (R. 798). Appellant loaned Duarte a total of \$750 in cash (R. 798). On or about March 20th Appellant contacted Duarte (R. 799) asking about repayment of the money. Appellant and Williams decided to charter a plane to fly to The Florida trip had two purposes, 1) to Florida (R. 801). reestablish the Fruetel-Williams relationship; 2) to have Duarte repay the loan (R. 801).

Williams arranged for a friend of his (Britt) to fly them (R. 801), and they arrived in Ft. Lauderdale on April 3, 1990 at 4 p.m. (R. 801-802). They told him (Britt) they were pursuing a government contract to cover up the purpose of their trip (R. 867). After landing in Ft. Lauderdale, they drove to Miami, where Appellant called Duarte (R. 803). They met at a Holiday Inn, (at 9:00 p.m.) and Duarte told Appellant that he needed more money (\$2,000) to get a gold watch of his out of pawn. After selling the watch, he would be able to repay her (R. 806). Appellant gave Duarte \$2000, keeping the keys to his car as

security (R. 807). Appellant went to a bar with Duarte that evening (R. 809).

The next morning, Appellant went to Duarte's house, at 9:30 a.m. (R. 810). He told her that they were both in big trouble, because he had taken her money to a drug dealer. There had never been a gold watch, he told her (R. 812). This was the first time drugs were ever discussed. When the phone rang, Duarte picked it up and conversed in Spanish before handing the phone to Ms. Fruetel (R. 816). It was agent Cabanillas, who asked Appellant if she was ready (R. 817). Appellant replied that she had no choice, and Duarte then took the phone back and continued the conversation in Spanish (R. 817).

Appellant and Duarte went to Bennigan's later that day and met with Cabanillas (R. 820). Appellant and Cabanillas talked privately at the bar (R. 820). Duarte remained at the table. Cabanillas gave Appellant his beeper number on a matchbook (R. 821). On the way back from Bennigan's, Duarte allegedly placed money in a bag and placed the bag in the trunk of Appellant's car (R. 824). Appellant beeped Cabanillas at around 5:15 p.m. (R. 826) and 6:15 p.m. (R. 827). The meeting at the hotel in Hallandale was arranged (R. 827). Appellant arrived at the hotel around 6:30 p.m. (R. 828). Appellant opened the trunk, removed the bag and walked into the hotel (R. 828). Inside the bag containing the money was makeup, a comb, a book and other personal items belonging to Appellant (R. 828). The book was about an Ivy League drug dealer (R. 845). The discussion in the room was taped and the voice on the tape was Appellant's (R.

831). During the drug transaction Appellant cut into the cocaine, tasted the cocaine, smashed cocaine between her fingers (R. 832). Appellant put the cocaine in her bag (R. 833). She was arrested in the hotel room (R. 834).

On cross-examination Appellant testified she was a bartender who made eleven to twelve thousand dollars annually (R. 839).

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In 1987, the Florida Legislature enacted Fla. Stat. §777.201 (1987) with the clear intent to overrule Cruz and to establish a new law of entrapment. Under Cruz, the entrapment defense embodied a subjective test and a two part objective test. The First, Third, and until recently, Fourth Districts, in considering the effect of section 777.201 on the law of entrapment, have concluded that the new statute abolished the objective test articulated in Cruz.

Today, the sole statutory test for entrapment is the subjective test of whether a defendant is predisposed to commit a crime. Stated differently, the new statute is concerned with whether law enforcement causes a person to commit a crime. There is no question that the instant facts fail to establish entrapment.

If this court, however, declines to find that section 777.201 overrules <u>Cruz</u>, the police operation in this case nevertheless passed both requirements of the <u>Cruz</u> entrapment test. The police activity had as its end the interruption of Fruetel's drug selling activities, and the officers used means which were reasonably tailored to apprehend only Fruetel and her codefendant, who were involved in the illegal activity.

#### ARGUMENT

THE OBJECTIVE ENTRAPMENT TEST SET FORTH IN CRUZ V. STATE HAS BEEN ABOLISHED BY THE ENACTMENT OF SECTION 777.201 FLORIDA STATUTES (1989). THEREFORE, THE OPINION BELOW MUST BE QUASHED AS IT IS BASED ON AN APPLICATION OF THE TWO PART ANALYSIS OF CRUZ.

Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed Below, the Appellant's conviction and directed that Appellant be discharged. Fruetel v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly D2686 (Fla. 4th DCA December 2, 1992). The Fourth District's opinion has as its foundation a judicial analysis of the facts based on the holding of Cruz v. State, 465 So. 2d 516 (Fla.), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 905, 105 S.Ct. 3527, 87 L.Ed.2d 652 (1985). The State believes that the objective entrapment analysis announced in Cruz was statutorily overruled with the enactment of Florida Statutes §77.201 (1987), Laws of Florida 87-243 §42. Therefore, the opinion below should be quashed and the case remanded to the Fourth District.

Prior to the 1987 enactment of Fla. Stat. §777.201, affirmative judicially created defense entrapment was а articulated by the Florida Supreme Court in Cruz\_v. State, 465 Herrera v. State, 594 So. 2d 275 (Fla. So. 2d 516 (Fla. 1985). 1992). In Cruz, Tampa police officers operated a decoy operation in a high crime area. One officer posed as a drunken bum, leaning against a building with his face to the wall. hundred and fifty dollars in currency was plainly visible from a rear pants pocket. Cruz happened upon the scene, approached the decoy officer, and then continued on his way. A short time

later, Cruz returned to the scene and took the money from the decoy's pocket without harming him in any way. When Cruz was charged by information with grand theft, he moved to dismiss pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190(c)(4), arguing that the arrest constituted entrapment as a matter of law.

This Court agreed with Cruz, holding that, under the facts of the case, the police activity constituted entrapment as a matter of law. The Court also enunciated an entrapment defense consisting of two independent and coexisting elements: A subjective test and a threshold objective test, which itself contains two elements. Id. at 522. In Gonzalez v. State, 517 So. 2d 1346, 1349 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), the Third District explained the two elements of entrapment as follows:

The first element, the "traditional" or "subjective" standard, defined entrapment as "law enforcement conduct which implants in the mind of innocent person the disposition commit the alleged crime, and hence induces its commission . . . traditional formulation, the defense of entrapment is limited to defendants who were not predisposed to commit the crime induced by government actions." Cruz v. State, 516, 521 (Fla.), So.2d denied, 473 U.S. 905 . . . (1985). The second, independent, "objective" assessing entrapment standard for recognized that "when official conduct inducing crime is so egregious as to impugn the integrity of a court that permits conviction, predisposition of the defendant becomes irrelevant." Cruz, 465 So. 2d at 521. subjective test focused on predisposition of the defendant; objective test focused on the conduct of the police and the proper uses of governmental power.

Under the objective test, "entrapment has not occurred as a matter of law where police activity (1) has its end the interruption of a specific ongoing criminal activity; and (2) utilizes means reasonably tailored to apprehend those involved in the ongoing criminal activity." Cruz, 465 So. 2d at 522. The first prong of the objective test examined whether the "police activity seek[s] to prosecute crime where no such crime exists but for the police activity engendering the crime." Id. The second prong of the objective test addressed the problem of inappropriate techniques. Id.

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