IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUL 6 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

Case No. 81,165

STATE OF FLORIDA, Petitioner,

v.

PATRICIA FRUETEL, Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM
THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ANTHONY C. MUSTO P. O. Box 16-2032 Miami, FL 33116-2032 305-285-3880 Fla. Bar No. 207535

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

IV

THE COURT ERRED IN CONSIDERING THE ISSUE OF HOW TO DEAL WITH THE FACT THAT THE PROSECUTOR IMPROPERLY DELETED CERTAIN PORTIONS OF A TAPE RECORDING WHEN IT APPEARS FROM THE RECORD THAT NEITHER APPELLANT NOR HER COUNSEL WERE PRESENT WHILE THE ISSUE, WHICH WAS OF SIGNIFICANCE TO APPELLANT, WAS CONSIDERED AND WHEN THE COURT RULED INCORRECTLY ON THE ISSUE

Following a luncheon recess, the court conducted a hearing on Williams' motion to suppress statements that he had made. As the hearing began, the court noted that "both counsel are present. And

the defendant is present (R 435)." Williams' counsel responded by pointing out that Appellant's counsel was not present and the court then clarified its statement by indicating that the reference to both counsel was meant as a reference to the prosecutor and Williams' counsel. The court did not clarify its reference to "the defendant," singular, but it appears to be a reference only to Williams, since it was his motion being heard, his attorney was the only defense attorney present and throughout the trial, the court was very careful to note the presence of "the defendants," plural, or "both defendants," or "both the defendants," when Williams and Appellant were present at the same time (R 52, 99, 161, 174, 274, 276, 358, 455, 526, 654, 740, 790, 892, 986, 1010). It thus appears that neither Appellant nor her counsel was present.

The court proceeded to conduct the suppression hearing, eventually denying Williams' motion to suppress (R 445). After a recess, the court, the prosecutor and Williams' attorney had a discussion regarding the tape that would be played for the jury and the question of what parts of the tape had been deleted by the prosecutor pursuant to an order of the court (R 445-6). There is no indication in the record that either Appellant or her attorney had returned to the courtroom for this discussion. The court took a recess to allow Williams' counsel to listen to the tape (R 446).

After the recess, Williams' counsel pointed out that the prosecutor had deleted the portions of the tape that he was supposed to delete, but that he had also deleted other portions of the tape as well (R 446). The court resolved the matter by ruling

that Williams' counsel could choose between the admission of the original, unedited, tape and the tape as edited by the prosecutor (R 451), not allowing the alternative preferred by Williams' counsel, the preparation of a tape that deleted only the portion of the tape that the court had ordered deleted. Williams' counsel chose the edited tape (R 452). There is no indication in the record that either Appellant or her attorney had returned to the courtroom for these proceedings. After the matter was resolved, another recess was taken (R 453).

Following the recess, the court noted, for the first time since the beginning of the hearing on Williams' motion to suppress, which individuals were present, stating that "[b]oth defendants" were present, as well as "[all] three counsel (R 455)." It thus appears that Appellant and her counsel did not rejoin the proceedings until after the issue regarding the tape had been decided.

In <u>Vileenor v. State</u>, 500 So.2d 713 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), the court dealt with a situation in which the defendant's attorney was absent from the courtroom for about five minutes during the jury instructions. The court found "that it was error for the trial court to proceed in the absence of a waiver, or other protection afforded the appellant, in the absence of counsel," <u>id.</u> at 715, but found the error to be harmless because no claim was made that the court read the instructions in an improper manner.

In the present case, the decision as to which tape to play, and as to whether the position advanced by Williams' counsel should

have been accepted, impacted on Appellant as well as Williams. The portions of the tape that were in dispute were comments by Appellant about Williams not being involved. Such comments could have been viewed as helpful to Appellant's defense, since they were entirely consistent with Appellant's testimony that she was entrapped by Duarte without any involvement by Williams. Appellant's counsel should have therefore had the opportunity to have input into the matter, to make a strategic decision as to whether he wanted those statements before the jury and to have acted accordingly in advocating whatever position he wished to adopt.

Moreover, unlike <u>Vileenor</u>, in which there was no question that the court did nothing wrong during counsel's absence, the court here erred in not requiring the prosecutor to prepare a tape that included the portions that were improperly deleted, since it is not appropriate for the State to determine which portions of a tape should be deleted. <u>Mathews v. State</u>, 353 So.2d 1274 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978).

The alleged denial of the right to the presence of counsel need not be preserved by objection. <u>Vileenor</u>, <u>supra</u>, 500 So.2d at 714. Reversal is therefore required due to the absence of counsel while the tape issue was considered in the present case. The court's erroneous ruling on the tape issue itself provides an additional basis for reversal.

Under the circumstances of this case, the absence of Appellant during this portion of the proceedings compels reversal as well.

A defendant "has a constitutional right to be present at all crucial stages of his trial where his absence might frustrate the fairness of the proceedings." <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 360, 363 (Fla. 1986), <u>cert. den.</u>, 479 U.S. 1022 (1986). The issue that was dealt with in Appellant's absence, as discussed above, called for a strategic decision that Appellant should have had the opportunity to participate in. Her absence therefore was one that might well have frustrated the fairness of the proceedings. Certainly, when her absence is coupled with the absence of her attorney, this must be said to be the case.

v

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL BASED ON IMPROPER COMMENTS BY THE PROSECUTOR AND THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE PROSECUTOR'S IMPROPER COMMENTS DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF A FAIR TRIAL

The record in this case reflects a series of improper comments by the prosecutor that deprived Appellant of a fair trial.

In his opening statement, the prosecutor referred to the tape of the drug deal and drew a distinction between the way Appellant sounded on the tape and the appearance and demeanor she was presenting in the courtroom. The prosecutor stated, "And the sweet, innocent, prim and proper woman that is being presented to you here sounds something different -- (R 400)." An objection by Appellant's counsel was sustained, but his motion for mistrial was denied (R 400-1).

Despite the fact that the objection was sustained, the prosecutor, in his closing argument, launched a similar attack. He

prefaced discussion of Appellant's demeanor on the stand by again contrasting her voice on the tape with her off the stand demeanor.

And so what she's asking you to do is to, first of all, excuse her behavior and, secondly, believe that she is not the person she appears to be on the tape. That she is not in fact the skilled drug negotiator that she that she sounds like on this tape.

You've seen her dress every day. You've noticed her attire. You've seen how she's been presented to you . . .

(R 947-8)

"... [C]omments on a defendant's demeanor off the stand are clearly improper." Pope v. Wainwright, 496 So.2d 798, 802 (Fla. 1986), cert. den. sub nom, Pope v. Dugger, 480 U.5. 951 (1987) (footnote omitted). Thus, the courts have found to be inappropriate various comments of such a nature. Id., (defendant grinning); Williams v. State, 550 So.2d 28 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), rev. den., 562 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1990) (defendant laughing and snickering); United States v. Pearson, 746 F.2d 787 (11th Cir. 1984) (defendant moving his leg up and down and appearing nervous); United States v. Wright, 160 U.S.App.D.C. 57, 489 F.2d 1181 (1973) (defendant finding part of trial humorous and being unable to stand other parts).

The prosecutor also took another inappropriate approach in his efforts to paint a picture of Appellant as a drug dealer. He argued to the jury that Britt had told the jury that Appellant had said that she would handle the negotiations of the government contracts because Williams did not get along with the people involved (R 940). This argument was made despite the fact that an

objection to Britt's testimony in this respect had been sustained and the jury had been instructed to disregard the testimony (R 623-5). Appellant made unsuccessful motions for mistrial at the time of the testimony (R 625) and at the time the prosecutor improperly argued the matter to the jury (R 941).

The impact of these improper efforts by the prosecutor to convince the jury that Appellant was a drug dealer was magnified by the fact that the prosecutor also referred to facts not in evidence in appealing to the sympathy, bias and prejudice of the jury with regard to drugs in the south Florida community.

Plain and simple, South Florida, and all you got to do is pick up the newspaper, is a capital for drugs. This is where people come to get drugs. The drugs get shipped into South Florida from South America, sent to other locations from South Florida. Unless you go to South America to buy your cocaine, the next best price that you can possibly get drugs is in South Florida.

(R 938-9)

The prosecutor later resumed his personal primer on the drug trade, once again discussing matters not supported by the evidence. When talking about the State's theory of the role played in the transaction by Williams, who remained outside the hotel when it occurred, the prosecutor stated:

Mr. Williams -- ladies and gentlemen, in a drug deal if you got -- if the people are buying cocaine, people who are buying cocaine have someone negotiating for them and then the person behind the person negotiating is the money man. The money man, the one who has the capital to buy the product. The person who's the money man on a drug deal always keeps himself or herself out of the picture until such time as it becomes --

(R 950)

After an objection was sustained and the jury was instructed to disregard the comment (R 951), the prosecutor, undeterred, revisited the subject, stating, "People who are the source of the money keep themselves in the background (R 951)" and then adding, "Until the deal is consummated or finalized those people remain in the background. This drug deal is no different than any other drug deal (R 951)." The court then reminded the prosecutor that there had been no testimony in the case about what money men do in drug deals (R 951), after which the prosecutor told the jury that it was his view of the evidence that "the money man in this case is sitting right over there, Vaden Williams, Patricia Fruetel's boyfriend (R 951-2)."

Essentially, the prosecutor told the jury that drug deals happen in a certain way and that what happened in this case was what happens in every drug deal. He thereby added support to the State's theory of the case with reliance on facts that were not reflected by the evidence. Although the comments were more directly concerned with Williams than with Appellant, they were clearly extremely prejudicial to Appellant, since the jury's acceptance of the concept of Williams being a money man and the concept of this transaction being no different from any drug deal would require the rejection of Appellant's version of the events and theory of the case.

It is plainly inappropriate for a prosecutor to comment on matters not supported by the evidence. State v. Wheeler, 468 So.2d

978 Fla. 1985); <u>Huff v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 1983); <u>Duque</u> v. State, 498 So.2d 1334 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986).

Moreover, comments regarding drugs in the community are inflammatory and improper, <u>Harris v. State</u>, 414 So.2d 557 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); <u>Reed v. State</u>, 333 So.2d 524 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), as are appeals to geographic prejudice. <u>Knight v. State</u>, 316 So.2d 576 Fla. 1st DCA 1975).

Not only did the prosecutor base arguments on his personal view of the drug trade, but he interjected his personal feelings and beliefs in other areas as well.

In his opening statement, the prosecutor told the jury that he was the person who decided that Britt, who was arrested at the same time as Appellant and Williams, would not be charged (R 402). In his closing argument, the prosecutor stated, "I was shocked when she [Appellant] was all upset with Anibal Duarte allegedly when he comes over to the hotel at around nine p.m. (R 943)." Additionally, although none of Appellant's family members testified at trial, the prosecutor noted that Appellant's "family has been with her tragically through this entire mess" and that it was "easy to be sympathetic toward the family as I am (R 963)."

These comments were improper because they were not supported by any evidence, Wheeler, supra; Huff, supra; Duque, supra, because they expressed the prosecutor's beliefs regarding credibility, George v. State, 539 So.2d 21 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989); Blackburn v. State, 447 So.2d 424 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); Cummings v. State, 412 So.2d 436 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); Francis v. State, 384 So.2d 967

(Fla. 3d DCA 1980), and because there is no reason to comment on the family members of any trial participant if those individuals are not relevant to the case. See Gomez v. State, 415 So.2d 822 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) (reference to victim who had admitted committing perjury as a gentleman with three children and a wife); Tuff v. State, 509 So.2d 953 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (mention of the number of children each juror had). The principle that it is improper to make comments about family members is particularly applicable to the facts of the present case since the comment here carried the implication that Appellant did something that necessitated the support of her family and since the effect of the comment was aggravated by being made in a context that portrayed the prosecutor as a sympathetic individual, a fact that was of no relevance and that could have only been referred to in order to curry favor with the jury.

Given the series of improper comments by the prosecutor, it is clear that Appellant was deprived of a fair trial. Under such circumstances, the denial of Appellant's motions for mistrial requires reversal, as does the cumulative effect of the improper comments. Tuff, supra; Ryan v. State, 457 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), rev. den., 462 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 1985).

VI

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT THE RIGHT TO THE CONCLUDING ARGUMENT BEFORE THE JURY DENYING APPELLANT'S COUNSEL'S REQUEST TO GIVE HIS ENTIRE CLOSING ARGUMENT AFTER THE STATE'S ARGUMENT UNLESS APPELLANT'S COUNSEL WOULD LIMIT HIS ARGUMENT TO REBUTTING WHAT WAS BY THE PROSECUTOR AND BY THE ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT'S CODEFENDANT

The only testimony or evidence presented by Appellant was her own testimony. Thus, she was "entitled to the concluding argument before the jury." Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.250.

The court allowed 40 minutes per side for closing argument and Appellant's counsel indicated that he wished to use his entire 40 minutes after the prosecutor presented his argument (R 890). The court indicated that if that procedure was followed, Appellant's counsel would be limited to rebutting the argument of the prosecutor and of Williams' attorney (R 890). Having thus been precluded from presenting the primary thrust of his argument as the concluding argument, Appellant's counsel had to settle for presenting 30 minutes of his argument before the prosecutor's argument and 10 minutes afterwards (R 890).

In <u>Wright v. State</u>, 87 So.2d 104 (Fla. 1956), this court interpreting a statute that preceded the present rule and that similarly guaranteed the right to "the concluding argument before the jury," stated that "[t]he word 'concluding' means to us the last argument if any arguments at all are made." <u>Id.</u> at 107. Thus, Rule 3.250 secures the right to the last argument, not just the right to rebut the arguments of the prosecution.

The right to the last argument is a "vested procedural right which cannot be denied to a defendant when he is entitled to exercise it." Faulk v. State, 104 So.2d 519, 521 (Fla. 1958). The denial of this right is "reversible error," Birge v. State, 92 So.2d 819, 821 (Fla. 1957), which is not subject to the application

of the harmless error rule. <u>Id.</u> at 822; <u>Raysor v. State</u>, 272 So.2d 867 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973).

By ruling that Appellant's counsel would be limited to rebuttal if his entire closing argument was presented after the prosecutor's closing argument, Appellant's counsel was forced to shift the bulk of his closing argument to a point at which it was not the concluding argument. This deprived Appellant of her right to the last argument and calls for reversal.

VII

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